1987

## G.G.A. Inc v. Toula K. Leventis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction upon the Supreme Court of the State of Utah is conferred pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3, of the Utah Constitution. Jurisdiction upon the Utah Court of Appeals is pursuant to a "pour-over" order from the Utah State Supreme Court, pursuant to a notice dated December 3, 1987.

---

References are as follows:

Index pp. \_\_\_\_\_: refers to the pages of the original record as paginated by the Salt Lake County Clerk's Office.

Addendum, Ex. \_\_\_\_\_: refers to the exhibits attached in the Addendum of Appellant's Brief in accordance with Rule 24 (f) of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

### **NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN TRIAL COURT**

This is a civil case arising out of real estate transaction between plaintiff and defendant; the trial court granted plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, and entered an order and a judgment in accordance therewith. Defendant appeals from a final order of the trial court's granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, seeking reversal of the trial court's order and judgment.

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The following issues are presented for review to the Court of Appeals:

1. Did the delivery of the Warranty Deed by defendant to plaintiff, and the acceptance of the same by plaintiff, constitute "merger", thus barring plaintiff from recovery against defendant ?

2. Did plaintiff waive its claims against defendant by electing to accept the deed of conveyance, and by paying the \$ 250,000.00 purchase price to the defendant ?

3. Did defendant's notice of rescission dated October 28, 1986, constitute a withdrawal of the continuing offer to plaintiff ?

4. Could plaintiff exercise a rescinded offer as an option pursuant to a "Right to First Refusal" ?

5. Did plaintiff's notice of purchase to defendant

dated December 6, 1986, constitute the exercise of a legal option to purchase ?

6. Was there a breach by defendant of the contract (lease) between the parties, entitling defendant to an award of attorney's fees ?

7. Is the exculpatory language - contractually agreed upon by plaintiff and defendant - applicable to the facts of the case at bar, thus relieving defendant from liability ?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **(A) Nature of the case**

This is a civil case wherein plaintiff sued defendant for the return of \$ 40,000.00, alleged to have been an overpayment, for the purchase of certain real estate owned by defendant, and which was in the possession of plaintiff pursuant to a long term lease.

##### **(B) Course of proceeding**

After the filing of a complaint and amended complaint by plaintiff, and the appropriate responsive pleadings by defendant, both parties made their respective motions. Plaintiff moved for an order granting summary

judgment to plaintiff, supporting its motion by affidavits. Defendant made her motion for judgment on the pleadings, or in the alternative a motion for summary judgment, and supported the same by affidavits.

The trial court had a hearing upon the respective motions of the parties, and having heard argument, and having considered the respective motions of the parties, entered its order granting plaintiff its motion for summary judgment and denying the relief requested by defendant; accordingly, an order was entered by the trial court dated August 31, 1987.

This appeal is taken from the final order of the lower court so entered (Addendum, Ex. "A").

#### **FACTS**

1. Defendant, as the landlord entered into a long term lease agreement (the "Lease") with plaintiff, pursuant to which plaintiff entered upon and occupied certain real property, located in Salt Lake County, Utah, hereinafter referred to as the "Premises" (Index pp. 9-27, Addendum, Ex. "B").

2. The Lease agreement provided, inter-alia, for plaintiff to have two (2) distinct, separate, and separable rights, to-wit: a) an Option to Purchase the Premises (Index pp. 22-23, Addendum, Ex. "B"); and b) a Right to [sic] First

Refusal (Index p. 23, Addendum, Ex. "B").

3. During the occupancy by plaintiff of the defendant's Premises, defendant received on September 9, 1986, from a third party an Earnest Money Sales Agreement-Earnest Money Receipt, offering to defendant to purchase the Premises for the sum of \$ 210,000.00, the "Offer One" (Index 267, 269, Addendum Ex. "C"); the offer so made to defendant was made subject to the rights of the plaintiff by virtue of the existing Lease. (Index p. 267, Addendum, Ex. "C").

4. On September 15, 1986, defendant in writing, gave notice to plaintiff of the offer received, enclosing a copy of Offer One (Index p. 266, Addendum, Ex. "D").

5. On October 28, 1986, defendant was notified by the prospective purchaser that Offer One was withdrawn and rescinded, and defendant notified plaintiff of the withdrawal and rescission of Offer One (Index p. 270, Addendum, "E").

6. On November 20, 1986, defendant received from a different third party another Earnest Money Sales Agreement-Earnest Money Receipt, offering to defendant to purchase the Premises for the sum of \$ 250,000.00, the "Offer Two" (Index pp. 272-273, Addendum, Ex. "F"); Offer Two also recognized plaintiff's rights by virtue of the existing Lease (Index p. 272, Addendum, Ex. "F").

7. On November 21, 1986, defendant in writing

communicated to plaintiff the receipt of Offer Two (Index p. 271, Addendum, Ex. "G").

8. On December 6, 1986, plaintiff in writing (through a letter from its out of town corporate counsel) sought to purchase the Premises by exercising plaintiff's "Right to First Refusal" by offering to pay the sum of \$ 210,000.00 and in essence accepting the offer made as Offer One. (Index pp. 274-275, Addendum, Ex. "H").

9. On December 29, 1986, plaintiff, by and through its local counsel, sent a letter to the defendant, and the prospective purchaser of Offer Two, and to the real estate agent involved, giving notice to all parties that plaintiff intended to purchase the property for \$ 210,000.00 (Index p. 276-277, Addendum, Ex. "I").

10. On January 14, 1987, plaintiff, by and through its local counsel, sent again a letter to the defendant, threatening legal action against defendant, and seeking to enforce its alleged "right to purchase" for the sum of \$ 210,000.00 (Index 278-279, Addendum, Ex. "J").

11. On January 19, 1987, defendant through her counsel, informed plaintiff of her legal position relative to Offer One and the correspondence received by defendant from plaintiff's various counsel. (Index pp. 280-281, Addendum, Ex. "K").



12. On February 17, 1987, plaintiff, by and through its local counsel notified defendant and her counsel, of plaintiff's "... election to exercise its Option to Purchase [the Premises] in response to the Notice in your November 21, 1986 letter [Offer Two]..." (Index p. 282, Addendum, Ex. "L").

13. On February 20, 1987, defendant delivered a duly executed warranty deed including therewith an Assignment of Lease from defendant (Seller) to plaintiff (Buyer), (Addendum, Ex. "N") to the escrow agent. (Index p. 290-292, Addendum, Ex. "M").

14. On February 26, 1987, the transaction was fully consummated, the warranty deed was recorded, the purchase of \$ 250,000.00 was paid by plaintiff, and a closing statement was issued (Index p. 296, Addendum, Ex. "O").

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court committed reversible error in failing to recognize and apply the defense of the principles of the doctrine of merger in the facts of the case at bar.

The delivery and acceptance of the executed warranty deed is considered, prima facie, to merge or supersede the provisions of the antecedent contract which may impose obligations upon the defendant (seller).

Even assuming arguendo that the doctrine of merger is not applicable in the facts of the case, defendant had merely offered to plaintiff, as a continuing offer, on September 15, 1986, the right to purchase the real property. Said offer remained open until October 28, 1986, at which time it was validly withdrawn. Plaintiff, having failed to respond by October 28, 1986, did not become vested with an irrevocable option to purchase for ninety days, flowing from plaintiff's "Right to First Refusal".

Plaintiff's election to purchase the real property, pursuant to the notice dated February 17, 1987, for the purchase price of \$ 250,000.00, and the closing of the transaction in accordance therewith, operates as a waiver of plaintiff's prior election to purchase the real property for \$ 210,000.00.

Furthermore, the award of attorney's fees to plaintiff should be reversed in that there is no breach of contract, there is no express agreement between the parties relating to attorney's fees, and there is no statutory authority or provision providing for the same.

In addition, the exculpatory language of the lease agreement expressly relieves defendant from liability, including attorney's fees, since any such liability arises after the date of the sale of the real property from

defendant to plaintiff.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### DEFENDANT'S DELIVERY OF THE WARRANTY DEED OPERATES AS MERGER THUS DEFEATING PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS

- (A) The doctrine of merger  
bars plaintiff from recovery.

The foundation of plaintiff's recovery and judgment against defendant was the contract (Lease) as alleged in the complaint, resulting from an alleged overpayment of the purchase price, and a purported breach of lease.

When one applies the principles of the doctrine of merger, it is clearly evident that the contract upon which plaintiff sued is not available as the foundation of the action in the lower court, since the evidence clearly establishes that the plaintiff (buyer) accepted the deed from defendant (Seller) as performance of the contract.

As early as 1916 in Reese Howell Co. vs. Brown, 48 Utah 142, 158 P 684 (Utah 1916), continuously throughout, and as late as July of this year in Dobrusky v. Isbell, 62 Utah Adv. Rep 3, \_\_\_\_\_ P 2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Utah, 1987) our Supreme Court recognized and consistently applied and upheld the doctrine of merger.

In Dobrusky, supra, the Utah Supreme Court defined the doctrine of merger as follows:

... The doctrine of merger provides that on delivery and acceptance of a deed, the provisions of the underlying contract for the conveyance are merged into the deed and thereby become extinguished and unenforceable (emphasis supplied) Dobrusky, supra, p. 4.

In applying the doctrine of merger and explaining the necessity for it, the Supreme Court said in the Dobrusky case:

We regard a deed as the "final repository of the agreement which led to its execution." 716 P.2d at 792 (quoting Annot., 84 A.L.R. 1008, 1009 (1933)). Plaintiffs' argument that the deed did not reflect Adam's and Mitchell's intended agreement (that Mitchell's fence would serve as a boundary) does not overcome the doctrine of merger. When the terms of the deed cover the same subject matter as the antecedent agreement, the deed controls.

If the alleged agreement did exist, Mitchell and Adams would have been cognizant of the terms of that agreement. The fact the terms in the deed are otherwise inconsistent makes it

difficult to perceive but that the changes were made with deliberate intent. The cases so hold, and it may be said that in such a situation it would appear to be almost a conclusive presumption that the different terms of the deed were intended by the parties to supersede or merge those of the contract in this respect.

Annot., 38 A.L.R. 2d 1310, 1313 (1954).

Execution and delivery of the deed by Adams constituted full performance on his part, and Mitchell's acceptance of the deed manifested his acceptance of that performance even though the estate conveyed differed from that allegedly promised in an antecedent agreement. Therefore, the deed is the final agreement, and all prior terms, whether written or oral, are extinguished and unenforceable. (Emphasis supplied; some citations omitted) Dobrusky supra, p.4.

Accord: Kelsey v. Hansen, 18 Utah 2d 226, 419 P 2d 198 (Utah 1966).

The evidence clearly demonstrate that the instant case falls squarely within the principles of the doctrine of merger; therefore, the trial court committed reversible error in granting plaintiff relief in accordance with the prayer of its complaint.

The defense of the doctrine of merger is clearly available to the defendant and was properly asserted in defendant's Answer to Amended Complaint (Index pp. 177-184, paragraphs 35, 36, 37, 41 and 42, (Index p. 181, 182 & 183, Addendum, Ex. "P")).

The weight of authority throughout the jurisdictions, wherever similar issues were presented, are clearly in favor of the defendant. See cases and annotations in 84 A L R 980 (1933) and 38 A L R 2nd 1313 (1954).

There are certain exceptions to the doctrine of

merger which arise in equity and which have been recognized by the Utah Supreme Court.

The exceptions fall within three areas: a) fraud; b) mistake; and c) collateral right of the vendee which survive the delivery and acceptance of the deed.

In Secor v. Knight, 29 Utah Adv. Rep. 15, 716 P 2d 790, (Utah 1986) the Utah Supreme Court upheld and applied the principle of the doctrine of merger and discussed one of the exceptions relating to the allegations of fraud.

In Stubbs v. Hemmert, 567 P 2d 168 (Utah 1977), our Supreme Court recognized another exception of the doctrine, and stated:

However, if the original contract calls for performance by seller of some act collateral to conveyance of title, his obligation with respect thereto survive the deed and are not extinguished by it (emphasis added). Stubbs, supra, p. 169.

Appellant has been unable to find a Utah case where the exception of "mistake" is discussed or decided.

None of the above discussed exceptions applies to the facts in the instant case; neither plaintiff's original complaint (Index pp. 002-007), nor its amended complaint (Index pp. 136-143) assert, expressly or impliedly, any issues of fraud, or mistake, or a collateral obligation by the seller which could possibly survive the delivery and acceptance of the deed. None of the foregoing equitable

principles have been plead, or alleged in the complaint, nor were urged upon the trial court in plaintiff's various filing and affidavits, and none are evident in the record.

For plaintiff to be able to succeed, it must carry its burden and show and demonstrate that it comes clearly within one of the foregoing exceptions to the application of the doctrine of merger. Appellant respectfully submits that plaintiff has failed to meet its burden of proof.

It is respectfully submitted that the trial court erred in failing to recognize the defense of the doctrine of merger and apply it in the case at bar. Therefore, this Court should issue its mandate reversing the decision of the trial court and remanding the case to the trial court with an order directing judgment in favor of the defendant and dismissing plaintiff's complaint.

- (B) Plaintiff having elected to purchase the property by accepting Offer Two, has waived its claims and is not entitled to any relief.

Plaintiff on February 17, 1987, notified defendant in writing (Index p. 282, Addendum, Ex. "L") that it wished to purchase the property for the purchase price of \$ 250,000.00. Plaintiff's counsel's letter to defendant and her counsel stated:

You are hereby notified on behalf of our client, GGA of its election to exercise its Option to purchase the above described property as set forth in Article XIV of the Real Estate Ground Lease in response to the Notice in your November 21, 1986, letter. (emphasis supplied) (Index p. 282, Addendum Ex. "L").

It is unequivocally clear that what plaintiff was doing by sending this letter was to agree to purchase the property at the purchase price of \$ 250,000.00, i.e., responding to Offer Two. Pursuant thereto defendant delivered title of the property and all other rights pursuant to the Lease, by Warranty Deed (Index p. 290-291, Addendum, Ex. "M"), and by an Assignment (Index p. 292, Addendum, Ex. "N"). A closing statement was also prepared by the title company in connection with the closing (Index p. 296, Addendum Ex. "O").

After the transaction was closed and plaintiff obtained title to the property, plaintiff amended its complaint seeking then to obtain a money judgment against defendant on the theory of breach of contract.

Plaintiff's motion in the trial court for summary judgment and the relief sought was bottomed upon the theory of breach of contract. Plaintiff states in its complaint (paragraph 24) that it was "forced" to pay an additional \$ 40,000.00. Plaintiff's position however is untenable. No



one forced plaintiff to act. Plaintiff voluntarily elected to accept the \$ 250,000.00 offer. There were other avenues open to plaintiff. It is important to note that at the time it closed the transaction, it had already instituted the legal action for the District Court; if plaintiff was operating under its theory of breach of contract, it could very easily have deposited the sum of money, the \$ 210,000.00 (the price at which it thought it was entitled to purchase the property) with the Court, in accordance with and consistent with its theories, and could have asked for declaratory judgment as to the validity of its December 6, 1986, "acceptance of its option", and seek all other remedies, including specific performance and injunctive relief.

There simply is not one "iota" of evidence in the lower court which goes to the issue of a breach of contract by the defendant. Defendant consistently performed in strict compliance with the provisions of the Lease and in fact delivered to plaintiff (tenant) by good and sufficient warranty deed the real estate affected by the Lease.

The only obligation and legal duty which defendant had was to deliver title of the property to plaintiff; that it did... . There was not any agreed upon or implied collateral obligation on the part of the defendant, nor there

was any agreed upon or implied collateral right of the plaintiff, which could conceivably survive the delivery of the warranty deed.

The Lease upon which plaintiff relies had given plaintiff certain possessory rights. There is no allegation in plaintiff's complaint that defendant prevented plaintiff from possessing the real property, nor was plaintiff prevented from conducting its business thereupon. All of defendant's duties and obligations pursuant to and in accordance with the Lease were fully complied and lawfully discharged by defendant.

It is important to note that both Offer One and Offer Two as presented to the defendant by the third parties (Index pp. 267-269 and pp. 272-273, Addendum, Ex. "C" and Ex. "F") expressly stated that the offer to purchase was made subject to and in full cognizance of all of the rights of plaintiff as expressed in section XIV of the Lease.

Plaintiff's theory that the withdrawal by defendant of the September 16, 1987, Offer One, constitutes a breach of the Lease, simply can not be maintained, and it is not supported by any evidence.

## POINT II

**PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT TO FIRST REFUSAL DID NOT BECOME A LEGAL OPTION BUT IT WAS MERELY A CONTINUING OFFER SUBJECT TO WITHDRAWAL.**

The gravamen of plaintiff's cause of action is the fact that when defendant gave notice to plaintiff on September 15, 1986, that she had an offer to sell the Premises, that that alone created a legal and binding "option" for ninety days.

An analysis of the "right" granted to plaintiff by defendant which arose from the "Right to First Refusal" clearly demonstrates that it was not an "option"; in order for it to be an "option" it must be supported by consideration. Consideration was glaringly absent in this transaction and in the claim asserted by plaintiff. What plaintiff had pursuant to the "Right to First Refusal" was merely an offer for plaintiff to purchase, which offer could be withdrawn, and in fact it was withdrawn, prior to acceptance. Defendant readily admits that one of the rights given to plaintiff, to-wit: the naked "Option to Purchase" the "premises" (Index p. 263, page 22 of Addendum, Ex. "B") (the first right granted to Tenant) was in fact supported by consideration... consideration being the execution of the

lease. The issue in the instant case arises out of the second, which is a separate and separable right as created by the lease, to-wit: A "Right to [sic] First Refusal". This second right is not the same and cannot be legally construed, nor factually be supported as a legal "option". It is indeed a very fine line distinguishing the two rights ... but which, in any event, based upon the evidence must be resolved in favor of the defendant.

The discussion of the option contracts in 77 Am. Jur. 2d, Vendor and Purchaser § 34 (1975) is instructive, appropriate and on point. Therein it is stated that:

It is essential to the existence of a valid option that it be supported by a valuable consideration ... An option to purchase without consideration is nudum pactum until accepted, and in effect a mere continuing offer, which may be withdrawn at any time before acceptance.

The consideration for the option is a thing apart from the consideration for the sale of the land. There must be some consideration on which the finger may be placed, and of which it may be said, "this was given by the proposed purchaser to the proposed vendor, as the price for the option, or privilege to purchase ...". Id @ p. 214 (citations omitted), (Emphasis supplied).

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