1987

G.G.A. Inc v. Toula K. Leventis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Once Leventis notified G.G.A., in writing, of her intention to sell the property for \$210,000.00, G.G.A. had a vested irrevocable option for ninety (90) days to purchase the property on similar terms. Leventis could not rescind or refuse G.G.A.'s option rights during the ninety (90) day period. When

Leventis refused to sell the property to G.G.A. for \$210,000.00 after G.G.A. had properly exercised its option, Leventis was in breach of the Lease. G.G.A. was forced to pay \$210,000.00 plus an additional \$40,000.00 paid under protest to obtain the property. G.G.A. is entitled to recover the \$40,000.00 paid under protest plus its attorney's fees and costs.

The defenses of merger, waiver or release do not apply to the facts and law of this case. The option price of \$210,000.00 is not merged or extinguished by the warranty deed in this case. G.G.A. has not waived its rights and Leventis is not released under the provisions of the Lease. The Lease provisions related to attorney's fees are not merged and extinguished by deed.

Therefore, G.G.A. is entitled to recover the difference between \$250,000.00 which it was required to pay to obtain the property and the Lease option price of \$210,000.00 or the \$40,000.00 paid under protest, plus interest, costs and attorney's fees.

The holding of the trial court must be affirmed and G.G.A. should be awarded its costs and attorney's fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

G.G.A. HAD A CONTRACTUAL OPTION TO PURCHASE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY

(A) THE LEASE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED G.G.A. AN IRREVOCABLE
OPTION.

The Lease between G.G.A. as Lessee and Leventis as Lessor contained a provision in Article XIV entitled "Option to Purchase and Right to First Refusal". The language of Article XIV is clear and unmistakable. It is the language of an "option" and not the language of a mere "offer" as contended by Leventis. Article XIV contains two paragraphs, the first paragraph applies only after the first twenty-five years of the Lease. At the time of this dispute, the Lease was approximately ten years old. Therefore, those provisions which discuss the selection of a board of three appraisers as a means for determining market value are inapplicable to the case at bar. However, the second paragraph regarding G.G.A.'s right to purchase the subject property at any time during the term of the Lease in the event Leventis places the property for sale does apply.

The relevant second paragraph of the option provision of the Lease states in pertinent part:

Landlords further covenant and agree that
in case landlords shall at anytime during

the term of this lease . . . receive a bona fide offer to purchase said demised premises, landlords shall first notify tenant of such desire and intent or of such offer and the price at which and the terms upon which landlords are willing to sell such estate. Thereupon, tenant shall have the option, to be exercised within ninety days after receipt by tenant of written notice from the landlords to elect to purchase the demised premises and all of the landlords' right, title and interest therein for such price and upon such stated terms and conditions. If tenant exercises said option within said ninety-day period of time, the closing of the purchase and sale shall be consummated with reasonable promptness thereafter. If tenant shall not exercise said option, landlords shall have the right to conclude a sale of their interest in the demised premises for a price not less than and upon terms not more favorable than the price and terms stated in such notice.

(Index at p. 214, Addendum, Ex. C) (emphasis added).

It is absolutely clear that the right bargained and negotiated for in the Lease between G.G.A. and Leventis was an irrevocable option and not merely a right on the part of G.G.A. to be informed of Leventis' intent to sell the land.

(B) THE OPTION PROVISION OF THE LEASE DOES NOT REQUIRE
SEPARATE CONSIDERATION

The cases cited by Leventis do not support her position that the option required separate consideration. Leventis argues that, notwithstanding the clear and unmistakable language of the Lease, G.G.A. did not have an option to purchase. Leventis asserts the option contained in the Lease was not supported by separate consideration and as a result, Leventis contends the option was simply a revocable offer (See generally, Appellant's brief at pp. 18-25). Leventis does this by taking issue with cases cited by G.G.A. in the trial court without identifying either the context or the principles for which G.G.A. used the cases cited.

Leventis contends that the case of J.R. Stone Co., Inc. v. Keate, 576 P.2d 1285 (Utah 1987) supports Leventis' argument that an option contained in a lease requires separate consideration. However, in Stone, unlike the case at bar, the lease and option were separate agreements. Id. at 1287. In the instant case, the Lease and option are contained in one contract and require no separate consideration. In addition, the Court in Stone determined that the option had not been properly exercised. Id. at 1288. In the instant case, G.G.A. fully complied with the requirements of the Lease in order to exercise its option. Although Stone is distinguishable from the case

at bar, the Stone case is relevant to the instant case because of the Court declaration that "the rule that a rejection of the offer terminates the offerees power to accept is not applicable to an option contract." 576 P.2d at 1288 n.4. (emphasis added) (citations omitted). Leventis could not unilaterally terminate G.G.A.'s power to match the terms of the first offer. It follows that Leventis could not affect G.G.A.'s option rights by notifying G.G.A. that the first offer allegedly had been withdrawn. As is clear from Stone, option contracts are outside the scope of the law which governs "offer" and "acceptance".

Next, Leventis unsuccessfully tries to argue that the case of Russell v. Park City Utah Corporation, 548 P.2d 889 (Utah 1976) stands for the proposition that the option in the instant case requires consideration separate from the Lease. However, the Russell case clearly dealt with the issue of whether an option survived a Lease that had been terminated prior to the exercise of the option. The Russell Court determined that the option was an integral part of the Lease and that if the option were to survive termination of the Lease it would need independent consideration.

Defendant's position is that the covenant that the right of purchase shall exist "during the entire term of the lease" is a severable covenant, supported by separate consideration and exists independently of the other provisions of the lease for the entire ten-year term thereof. Whereas, Plaintiff contends to the contrary in that it was intended as an integral part of the total

composite of the lease; and when the lease was forfeited and terminated this covenant (the option) fell with it.

Id. at 892 (parenthetical and emphasis added). The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's finding in accordance with the Plaintiff's position because of the lack of certainty in the language of the Lease that the option provision was a separate covenant of the Lease and because the Lease in Russell had already lapsed. However, the option to purchase provisions of the Lease in the instant case lack the language of severability. The option in the instant case is clearly not a separate covenant from the Lease but rather an integral part of the Lease and therefore does not need independent consideration.

In addition, the Lease in the instant case was in full force and effect at the time the option was exercised by G.G.A. Therefore, the option does not require separate consideration to support it since the underlying Lease was never terminated. These important factual distinctions preclude Russell from supporting Leventis' argument.

Leventis next contends that G.G.A.'s lower court use of Hoffmann v. Sullivan, 599 P.2d 505 (Utah 1979) is misplaced. (Appellant's Brief at p. 24). Hoffmann also dealt with the enforceability of an option provision in a lease agreement. Leventis argues that in Hoffmann, One Hundred Dollars (\$100) out of each Three Hundred and Seventy Five Dollars (\$375) monthly

Lease payment was somehow separate consideration for the purchase option. However, Leventis again misconstrues case law.

The facts of the Hoffmann case indicate that the agreement merely allowed One Hundred Dollars (\$100) out of the Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars (\$375) Lease payment to be used as credit toward the purchase price if the option was exercised. This could not be construed as separate consideration since the Lease in Hoffmann required that Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars (\$375) per month be paid regardless of whether the option was exercised. There is no indication in the Hoffmann decision that in the event that the tenant had not desired the option he could have paid a lesser rent. Indeed, the allowance of a portion of a Lease payment to be contributed towards the purchase price was merely an incentive for the purchaser to exercise the option rather than separate consideration to the owner to preserve the option on behalf of the lessee. Therefore, the Hoffmann case does not support Leventis' argument that the option was merely a revocable offer for lack of separate consideration.

The case of Ottesson v. Malone, 584 P.2d 878 (Utah 1978) further supports the argument that independent consideration is not needed to support an option to purchase contained in a lease. In Ottesson, the Utah Supreme Court again confronted the issue of whether to enforce the option provision of a ground

lease agreement. The option and the lease were contained in one agreement, supported by indivisible consideration. There was no independent consideration for the option identified in the court's opinion, however, the court enforced the option portion of the lease agreement in favor of the purchasers of the property and stated that "a written contract duly entered into should be regarded with some sanctity; and its commitments can only be overcome by clear and convincing evidence". Id. at 880. G.G.A. should be afforded similar treatment with the written Lease and option contract.

(C) THE OPTION TO PURCHASE IN THE INSTANT CASE WAS SUPPORTED BY CONSIDERATION.

1. The consideration of the Lease extends to the option provision.

The Lease, itself, identified the consideration for the entire contract. The option provisions of the Lease rest upon "a common and indivisible consideration" with the rest of the Lease. Gershenhorn v. Stutz, 72 Nev. 293, 304 P.2d 395, 400 (1956). That consideration included the Lease payments and the covenants of the contract. The Lease and its option to purchase provision was a single transaction reciting and referencing the same terms and parties and transcribed into a single cohesive document.

2. The covenants and conditions of the Lease and their performance by G.G.A. constituted additional consideration.

Approximately ten years of continuous performance by G.G.A. of the covenants and conditions of the Lease passed before the breach by Leventis herein. Article XIV was never treated as separable from the remainder of the Lease. Performance under the Lease is a condition precedent and consideration for the exercise of the option provisions. G.G.A. contends, and Leventis does not dispute, that G.G.A. had fully performed and was not in breach of any of the provisions of the Lease prior to the notification to Leventis of G.G.A.'s intent to exercise its option to purchase. The covenants and conditions and full performance of G.G.A. under the Lease were additional consideration for the option provisions.

3. Leventis is estopped from alleging a failure of consideration

The option provisions in the instant case are further supported by the equivalent of consideration by way of estoppel and detrimental reliance. Leventis treated G.G.A. as if the subject option provision was in full force and effect. The letter from Leventis to Phil Arlt of G.G.A. dated September 15, 1986, (Index at p. 266, Addendum Ex. D), clearly shows Leventis' intention to comply with and be bound by Article XIV of the Lease by notifying G.G.A. of a "bona fide" third-party offer to

purchase the property. Leventis now contends that the September 15, 1986 letter was merely an "offer" to G.G.A. subject to revocation. However, the subject letter is not in the language of an offer and references the relevant portion of Article XIV of the Lease which provides G.G.A. with its option to purchase.

G.G.A. relied to its detriment upon the ninety (90) day provisions of the option and did not immediately exercise its option before Leventis attempted to revoke what she claims was merely an "offer". Under Leventis' argument, G.G.A. could have purchased the property for \$210,000.00 and saved the trouble of this lawsuit if G.G.A. had accepted Leventis' "offer" prior to its revocation. However, the language of the Lease and Leventis' apparent acknowledgment of it, reasonably led G.G.A. to believe it had a full ninety (90) days in which to make its corporate decision to exercise its option by matching the terms of the first offer. This reliance was detrimental to the Plaintiff in that it was later forced to pay an additional \$40,000.00 under protest to purchase the property and enter into this lawsuit to enforce its option rights. Sections 90 and 129 of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts dealing with both promissory estoppel and detrimental reliance allow G.G.A. to substitute Leventis' actions and G.G.A.'s reasonable reliance thereon for consideration and allow enforcement of the option to prevent injustice against G.G.A.

§90. Promise Reasonably Inducing Action or
Forbearance

(1) A promise which the promisor should reasonably expect to induce action or forbearance on the part of the promisee or a third person and which does induce such action or forbearance is binding if injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise. The remedy granted for breach may be limited as justice requires

Restatement (Second) of Contracts §90.

§129. Action in Reliance; Specific Performance

A contract for the transfer of an interest in land may be specifically enforced notwithstanding failure to comply with the Statute of Frauds if it is established that the party seeking enforcement, in reasonable reliance on the contract and on the continuing assent of the party against whom enforcement is sought, has so changed his position that injustice can be avoided only by specific enforcement.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts §129. Clearly, G.G.A. was induced by Leventis to forebear notifying Leventis of its exercise of the option based upon the Lease language allowing ninety (90) days for said notification.

(D) LEVENTIS ADMITS G.G.A. HAD A NINETY (90) DAY OPTION TO PURCHASE THE PROPERTY.

Further evidence that Leventis recognized the option contained in Article XIV of the Lease is shown in the letter dated November 21, 1986 from Leventis to Phil Arlt of G.G.A. (Index at p. 271, Addendum Ex. G). In that letter, Leventis refers to Article XIV of the Lease indicating that Leventis had

received a second "bona fide cash offer", outlines the offer and says that:

My advisors tell me the buyers understand your continuing rights as lessees of the property and your interest in the improvements thereon as well your option to purchase detailed in Article XIV of our Lease.

Id. (emphasis added). In addition, Leventis recognizes the ninety (90) day period of Article XIV stating:

It would be a real courtesy to me and greatly appreciated if you could respond to this communication within a maximum of thirty (30) days rather than the ninety (90) days provided for in Article XIV of our Lease Agreement.

Id. (emphasis added). Again, the evidence is clear and convincing that Leventis recognized the option of G.G.A. and the provisions allowing for ninety (90) days in which to exercise the option. That same ninety (90) day provision also applied to the first offer and did not expire until at least December 14, 1986, by which time G.G.A. had already exercised its option by informing Leventis orally and in writing of its intent to purchase the property for a price equivalent to the first offer.

(E) PUBLIC POLICY DEMANDS THAT G.G.A.'S CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS BE TREATED AS AN OPTION

Leventis' position is bad law. It effectively destroys an option by allowing a landlord, after having accepted an offer, to continue to shop for a better offer up until the minute before the closing of the transaction selling the property to the tenant. The ninety (90) day option period was

specifically negotiated for and essential for G.G.A. to make its corporate decision, obtain financing and take care of other details germane to the transaction. Without a known and fixed period of time within which to exercise the option, the option provisions become meaningless. "The sound and generally recognized rule is that a party to a contract is entitled to whatever rights are granted therein, including time limitations". See, Stone, supra., 576 P.2d at 1288.

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